1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA						
2	* * * * * * * *						
3	SAMUEL HOWARD						
4	Appellant,	Electronically Filed May 12 2011 04:23 p.m Case No. 57469Tracie K. Lindeman					
5	vs.	Case No. 57469 Tracie K. Lindeman					
6	E.K. McDANIEL, WARDEN, and						
7	CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO, ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR THE						
8	STATE OF NEVADA,						
9	Respondents.						
10							
11	APPFII ANT'S A	OPENING RRIFE					
12	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF						
13	Appeal from Order Dismissing Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)						
14	Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County						
15							
16							
17		A. FORSMAN ublic Defender

I. JURISDICTION

Mr. Howard appeals from an order by the district court dismissing his amended petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) challenging his conviction and death sentence. The court filed its order on November 6, 2010, 14 AA 3366-3401, and notice of entry of the order was filed on December 6, 2010, 14 AA 3402. Mr. Howard filed a timely notice of appeal on December 21, 2010, 14 AA 3404-3405. This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 34.575(1).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Mr. Howard is innocent of the death penalty.
- i. The alleged aggravating circumstance of murder during the course of a robbery is void under McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004).
- ii. The remaining aggravating factor, a prior conviction involving violence, is also void because (1) it was never alleged as an aggravating circumstance, (2) it was not based on a final conviction, and (3) its use violates both the ex facto clause and the due process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- iii. The mitigating evidence, both adduced at trial and in post conviction, establish Mr. Howard's innocence of the death penalty.
 - B. Mr. Howard was deprived of the effective assistance of trial counsel.
 - C. The jury instruction on "premeditation" violates due process of law.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Howard is in the custody of the State of Nevada at the Ely State Prison in Ely, Nevada, pursuant to a state court judgment of conviction and sentence of death entered on May 6, 1983, in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, by the Honorable John F. Mendoza, Case No. C53867. 7 AA 1572-1573, 1592.

On June May 25, 1981, a Clark County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Howard on two counts of robbery with the use of a deadly weapon, and one count of murder in the first degree with use of a deadly weapon. 1 AA 1-3. On April 22, 1983, the jury found Mr.

1983, the jury sentenced him to death. 7 AA 1570-1571. This Court affirmed Mr. Howard's conviction and sentence on December 15, 1986, Howard v. State, 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 872 (1987).

Howard guilty of all charges. 6 AA 1344-1346. Following the penalty hearing on May 2-4,

On October 29, 1987, Mr. Howard filed a petition for post-conviction relief in the Eighth Judicial District Court for the State of Nevada. 7 AA 1593-1602. The court held an evidentiary hearing on August 25-26, 1988. 7 AA 1603-1680. Counsel filed post-hearing briefs, 7 AA 1681-1696, and on February 14, 1988, the court rendered its decision denying Mr. Howard's petition for post-conviction relief. 7 AA 1697-1711. Mr. Howard appealed and, on November 7, 1990, this Court dismissed the appeal. Howard v. State, 106 Nev. 713, 800 P.2d 175 (1990). While the state court proceeding was pending, Mr. Howard filed a federal petition for habeas relief in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada (CV-N-88-0264-ECR). On June 23, 1988, the federal court dismissed the case without prejudice, to permit Mr. Howard to exhaust claims.

On May 1, 1991, Mr. Howard filed another federal habeas corpus petition in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada (CV-N-91-196-ECR). Mr. Howard's petition was a "mixed" petition, and on October 16, 1991, the United States District Court granted Mr. Howard's request to stay the case and to return to state court for exhaustion purposes.

On December 16, 1991, Mr. Howard returned to state court and filed an amended petition for post-conviction relief alleging four unexhausted claims.¹ 7 AA 17121716. On April 17, 1992, Mr. Howard filed a response to the state's motion to dismiss his amended petition, agreeing to summary dismissal of the claims "so long as it is made clear his [three claims] are exhausted and ripe for review in . . . Petitioner's federal habeas action." 7 AA

Those claims were (1) prosecutorial misconduct, (2) ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to explain the concept of mitigation to Petitioner, and the (3) prejudice stemming from the cumulation of error occurring at trial and on appeal. A fourth claim that Mr. Howard's right to a speedy trial was violated was conceded because counsel could not substantiate the claim.

 at 1719. On July 7, 1992, the district court denied the amended petition. 7 AA 1721-1725. On March 19, 1993, this Court dismissed his appeal. 10 AA 2347-2348.

Mr. Howard filed another federal petition for writ of habeas corpus (2:93-cv-01209-LRH-LRL) on January 12, 1994. He filed an amended petition on May 8, 1995, and a second amended petition on January 27, 1997. On September 13, 2002, the federal court stayed the second amended petition to allow Mr. Howard to again return to state court to exhaust his pending federal habeas claims.

On December 20, 2002, Mr. Howard filed his third state petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction). 7, 8 AA 1726-1782, and on August 20, 2003, filed an amended petition for writ of habeas corpus. 8 AA 1783-1847. On October 23, 2003, the state court dismissed the amended petition. 8 AA1848-1851. On December 1, 2004, this Court affirmed that dismissal. 8, 9 AA 1992-2002.

On February 23, 2005, the federal court lifted its stay and directed the clerk to file Mr. Howard's third amended petition for writ of habeas corpus. On December 23, 2005, respondents filed a motion to dismiss the third amended petition. On July 26, 2006, the court granted respondents' motion due to appointed counsel's failure to file a response to the motion, even after requesting two extensions of time to do so. On February 12, 2007, the federal court discharged Mr. Howard's appointed counsel because she abdicated her responsibilities as appointed counsel in a capital habeas case and did little or no substantive legal work on Mr. Howard's behalf since the case was re-opened.²

On October 25, 2007, Mr. Howard filed another state petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction), 8 AA 1852-1986, within one year of this Court's decision in Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 146 P.3d 265, (2006), in which this Court held that the

On December 28, 2009, the federal court denied Mr. Howard's third amended petition and issued a certificate of appealability as to one issue. Mr. Howard timely filed his notice of appeal in federal court on January 27, 2009. On May 12, 2010, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals granted a stay of Mr. Howard's federal appeal pending resolution of his state court proceedings which are the subject of the instant appeal.

10 11

12 13

14

15 16

17 18

19

20

21 22

23

24

25 26

27 28

1287 (2005), was retroactive. See NRS 34.726. Mr. Howard filed an amended petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) on February 24, 2009. 9, 10 AA 2247-2340. Respondent's filed a motion to dismiss the petition and a reply to the opposition on October 7, 2009, 13, 14 AA 3213-3285, and Mr. Howard filed a response. 14 AA 3286-3314. On February 4, 2010, the district court heard argument on the petition and motion to dismiss. 14 AA 3355-3365. On November 6, 2010, the court filed its findings of fact, conclusions of law and order denying Mr. Howard's petition. 14 AA 3366-3401.

decision in McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004), reh'g denied 107 P.3d

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court found all of Mr. Howard's claims procedurally defaulted under NRS 34.726, NRS 34.810 and NRS 34.800. The district court, however, refused to address the merits of Mr. Howard's petition: that his innocence of the death penalty forgave those defaults, and, instead, held that those arguments were also time barred. There is no doubt that one of the aggravating factors alleged, murder in the course of robbery, is invalid. See McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004), reh'g denied 107 P.3d 1287 (2005).³ Given that invalidity, Mr. Howard's claim of innocence revolves around two alternative arguments. The first is that the remaining aggravator, a prior conviction involving violence, is itself also invalid for three reasons: first, the prosecution gave no notice of its intent to use the New York proceeding as an aggravating factor. Second, that proceeding did not result in a final conviction under then existing Nevada law. Third, to permit such a proceeding to apply to Mr. Howard's case violates due process of law and the ex post facto clause of the Fifth Amendment. The second alternative is that if the New York proceeding were to survive as a valid aggravator, this Court must still reweigh the valid aggravator against the mitigating evidence, and in doing so, must consider not just the evidence adduced

Mr. Howard argues here that he could not have brought his McConnell claim until this Court found the claim to be retroactive in Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 146 P.3d 265, 271 (2006). It was only then that Mr. Howard had a viable claim to raise. See Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 81 P.3d 521 (2003).

2
 3
 4

at trial, but all the evidence adduced in post-conviction proceedings, as well as the reasons for failure to present the evidence at trial. In this context, Mr. Howard has established that he is innocent of the death penalty and any procedural defaults are overcome.

Mr. Howard's trial counsel, both staff attorneys with the Clark County Public Defender's Office, failed to provide the required effective assistance of counsel. The victim was a popular Las Vegas dentist whose patient list included the staff of the public defender: most of the staff refused to have anything to do with Mr. Howard's case and some vocally wished for his execution. The two counsel assigned to the case conducted no investigation whatsoever, and failed to make any effort to obtain his California mental health records. Had they done so, they would have learned information that would easily have led to most if not all of the information plead above. Their professed excuse - that Mr. Howard refused to sign releases - has been expressly rejected by the United States Supreme Court.

The premeditation instructions given to the jury were constitutionally infirm in failing to define deliberate as a separate, distinct element of first-degree murder, and thus violated clearly established Supreme Court law.

V. MR. HOWARD'S TRIAL

Before Mr. Howard's trial, the prosecution filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty with three aggravating factors alleged. The first was a murder committed by a person who had previously been convicted of a prior violent felony:

felony involving the use of or threat of violence to the person of another. [Citation omitted.] The evidence will consist of certified judgments of conviction and/or certified court minutes and/or state prison records showing that defendant Samuel Howard was convicted in San Bernardino County, California, in 1980 or 1981 of the felony offenses of robbery with use of a firearm and unlawful taking of a motor vehicle.

1 AA 46-48. The second aggravating factor was that the murder occurred in the course of a robbery. <u>Id.</u> A third aggravating factor alleged murder for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest, but was abandoned. 6 AA 1388-1389.

The notice of intent to seek death also alleged additional evidence it intended to offer at the penalty phase - that Mr. Howard had been convicted in absentia of first-degree robbery.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

The state admitted, however, that it could not produce a certified copy of a judgment of conviction because Mr. Howard had jumped bail after two days of testimony. 1 AA 47. The state also argued that it would present evidence of the 1979 murder of Louis Zumpano, a used car salesman in Queens, NY. Id. Neither offense was listed as a statutory aggravating factor.4

During the guilt phase, the state used the California conviction for car theft and robbery and the in absentia proceedings in New York for the robbery of Dorothy Weisband to cross-examine Mr. Howard but offered no details of either offense. 5 AA 1142-1143.

The penalty phase commenced on the afternoon of May 2, 1983. The first witness called by the state was Dorothy Weisband, who testified that Mr. Howard robbed her. 6 AA 1400-1416. John McNicholas, the investigating detective, also testified. 6 AA 1417-1428. The state introduced exhibit 69, a certified copy of the minutes from the Supreme Court of New York. Defense counsel objected to its admission but the trial court overruled the objection. 6 AA 1425-1426.

The following day, the prosecutor informed the court that he intended to call the investigating officer from San Bernardino, California, and to move for the introduction of the abstract of judgment from California indicating that on May 27, 1982, Mr. Howard was convicted of one count of theft and one count of robbery. 6 AA 1431. The defense objected, arguing that Mr. Howard had been convicted of the California offense after the commission of the Nevada offense and therefore the California offense was not a prior conviction within the meaning of the statute. 6 AA 1431-1443. The trial court sustained the objection. Id. at 1443.

The Court: Counsel, let's not waste any time. The court is going to sustain the objection.

I don't think you can read this sentence any way other than it is. Your

On January 12, 1983, the district attorney filed a supplemental notice of intent to seek death contending that they would offer evidence of three additional robbery offenses. 1 AA 81-82. None of these offenses were alleged to have resulted in a conviction or qualified as statutory aggravating factors. Id.

misinterpretation of it doesn't change it. The sentence reads:

The murder, which is the murder under consideration, was committed by a person who was previously convicted of another murder or a felony involving the use or threat or violence to the person of another.

The reason the other information came in or the other felony came in from New York was because it was a previous felony involving violence. This felony that we have in California is a subsequent felony involving violence.

Your objection is sustained.

6 AA 1442-1443.

Penalty phase jury instruction number 9 instructed the jury that a first degree murder could be aggravated if (1) the murder was committed by a defendant who was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person of another or (2) if the murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of any robbery. 7 AA 1561.

In its closing arguments to the jury, the prosecutor stated:

Ladies and gentleman, court minutes are in evidence as State's Exhibit 69. You heard the testimony of Detective John McNicholas, that the defendant was convicted of these crimes. There is no doubt they occurred May 24, 1978. Mr. Howard had previously been convicted of a crime involving the use of violence before he even came to Las Vegas in 1980, and that is the circumstance that aggravates murder in the first degree, and that's been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

7 AA 1512.

The jury found both aggravators as alleged by the state, no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances, and voted for death. 7 AA 1570-1571.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THE McCONNELL AGGRAVATOR

As noted above, the state alleged and the jury found that Mr. Howard murdered Dr. Monahan while committing the offense of robbery. Despite this Court's prior holdings in both McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004) and Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 146 P.3d 265, 271 (2006), the Court below ruled that Mr. Howard's challenge to that aggravator was time barred because it had not been brought within one year of the

<u>McConnell</u> decision. Mr. Howard both contended below and now contends before this Court that the one year deadline of NRS 34.726 commences when the new claim is expressly made retroactive by this Court.

In <u>Clem v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 81 P.3d 521 (2003), the defendant sought to take advantage of a more restrictive definition of deadly weapon. At the time of Clem's trial, this Court employed a functional definition of the concept, focusing on how the instrument was used and the facts and circumstances of that use. 119 Nev. at 619, 81 P.3d at 524. Applying that test, the Court concluded that the evidence in Clem's case satisfied that standard.

After Clem's trial and appeal, this Court, in Zgombic v. State, 106 Nev. 571, 798 P.2d 548 (1990) reexamined its holding and adopted a more narrow definition of deadly weapon, that required proof that the instrument was inherently dangerous. Clem then filed a successor post-conviction petition and argued that Zgombic should be applied retroactively. This Court rejected that argument. Because the claims were time barred, Clem could overcome that default "with a sufficient showing of good cause and actual prejudice." 119 Nev. at 620, 81 P.3d at 525.

To establish good cause, appellants must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rules. A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available at the time of any default. In <u>Kimmel v. Warden</u>, [101 Nev. 6, 692 P.2d 1286 (1985)], this court opined, without deciding, that new state-law clams might constitute good cause in this context. However, we now determine that proper respect for the finality of convictions demands that this ground of good cause be limited to previously unavailable constitutional claims.

119 Nev. 621, 81 P.3d at 525-26. <u>Bejarano</u> made it clear that not all constitutional rules are given retroactive effect. New rules, and <u>McConnell</u> was such a rule, are given retroactive effect if the new rule is substantive. <u>Bejarano v. State</u>, 122 Nev. at 1075-77, 146 P. 3d at 271-273. Because the <u>McConnell</u> decision was substantive, that is, because the interpretation narrowed the scope of a criminal statue, it was retroactive. It was only at that point that the <u>McConnell</u> claim was available to all those whose post conviction petitions would otherwise be time barred. The Court below erred when it refused to consider the challenge to Mr.

Howard's murder in the course of a robbery aggravator.

B. THE PRIOR CONVICTION INVOLVING VIOLENCE AGGRAVATOR

It is clear that the prosecution relied on the New York robbery to satisfy its allegation of a prior violent felony conviction aggravating factor, a reliance legally inappropriate for several reasons. First, the prosecution did not allege the robbery as an aggravating factor in its notice of intent to seek death. See Kirksey v. State, 107 Nev. 499, 503, 814 P.2d 1008, 1010 (1991); NRS 175.552. Second, Mr. Howard was never convicted of the robbery in New York. Third, to hold otherwise violates due process of law and the ex post facto clause of the Fifth Amendment.

i. Lack of notice

At the time of Mr. Howard's trial, NRS 175.552 mandated notice of aggravating factors at any time "before the commencement of the penalty hearing." See Rogers v. State, 101 Nev. 457, 466,-67, 705 P.2d 664, 671 fn. 2 (1985), cert denied, 476 U.S. 1130 (1986). Thus, once the penalty phase started in Mr. Howard's trial, the state was barred from altering its notice of intent to seek death.

In Bennett v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 121 Nev. 802, 121 P.3d 605 (2005), the prosecution filed a notice of aggravating factors in 1988 and obtained a death sentence which was later reversed and a new penalty hearing ordered. At that point, three aggravating factors remained from the original prosecution: the murder created a risk of death to more than one person, NRS 200.033(3), the murder was committed in the course of a burglary, NRS 200.033(4), and that the murder was committed during the course of an attempted robbery, NRS 200.033(4). The last two aggravators were invalidated under McConnell v. State, before the second penalty hearing. The state then sought to add three new aggravating factors to its notice of intent under SCR 250(4). The trial court permitted this new addition and Mr. Bennett sought a writ of mandamus to compel their dismissal. 121 Nev. at 805, 806, 121 P.3d at 607-08. This Court agreed:

Our view on this matter is only strengthened by the fact that this evidence upon which the State bases the newly alleged aggravators has existed since

Bennett's original prosecution in 1988. The State originally passed on these aggravators, which it has recognized in its answer to Bennett's petition were weaker than the ones it actually chose to pursue. That we issued the McConnell opinion does not now give the State cause to resurrect weaker aggravating circumstances it rejected nearly 17 years ago.

121 Nev. at 811, 121 P.3d at 611.

In the case at bar, the prosecution, prior to trial, chose not to allege the New York prosecution as an aggravating factor. Once the prior violent felony conviction from California was disallowed by the trial court, the prosecution was left only with the murder in the course of a robbery; there was no other aggravating factor alleged. The New York trial cannot and should not save the case now. Because the only remaining aggravating factor before the Court to justify Mr. Howard's death sentence is the murder during the course of a robbery, an aggravating factor no longer valid after McConnell and Bejarano, the death sentence must be set aside.

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