1	IN THE SUDDEME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3	CANGER HOWARD	Electronically Filed
4	SAMUEL HOWARD,	Case No. 5746 Sep 14 2011 11:09 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman
5	Appellant,	Clerk of Supreme Court
6	V.	
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
8	Respondent.)
9		
10	<u>RESPONDENT'S</u>	ANSWERING BRIEF
11	Appeal From Order Do	enying Fourth Petition for rpus (Post-Conviction)
12	Eighth Judicial Distr	ict Court, Clark County
13	MIKE CHALTON	DAVID ROGER
14	Assistant Federal Public Defender Nevada Bar #11025C	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781
15	411 E. Bonneville Ave., Suite 250	Regional Justice Center

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

Where the petitioner has argued that the procedural default should be ignored because he is actually ineligible for the death penalty, he must show by clear and convincing evidence that, but for a constitutional error, no reasonable juror would have found him death eligible. Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993), citing Sawyer v. Whitely, 505 U.S. 333, 112 S.Ct. 2514 (1992). True claims of actual innocence are "extremely rare" and found only in the most "extraordinary cases." Schulp v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 115 S.Ct. 851 (1995). As argued in Section III *infra*, Howard's Petition failed to demonstrate actual innocence sufficient to overcome the 20-year delay in bringing his post-conviction claims. Accordingly, his claims were procedurally barred and the district court did not err in dismissing these claims.

E. Appellant's claims are further precluded by the Law of the Case Doctrine.

Where an issue has already been decided on the merits by the Nevada Supreme Court, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 415, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (2000), (citing Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 557-58, 875 P.2d 361, 363 (1994), abrogated on other grounds by Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975); see also McNelton, 115 Nev. at 415, 990 P.2d at 1275. Nearly every claim raised by Howard in his Fourth State Petition was previously raised on appeal or in one of his first three petitions. These claims, discussed below, have been addressed by this Court and found to be without merit. Powell v. State, 108 Nev. 700, 838 P.2d 921 (1992); State v. Powell, 122 Nev. 751, 138 P.3d 453 (2006). Accordingly, this Court's ruling on these claims is the law of the case and they should not be revisited. Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 315, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975).

2.2

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO REACH THE MERITS OF HOWARD'S PROCEDURALLY-BARRED CLAIMS

Howard's opening brief improperly frames the issues in an undisguised attempt to re-litigate the merits of each individual claim and sub-claim. However, the only proper analysis on appeal is whether the district court properly denied Howard's Fourth State Petition as procedurally barred, which the State submits it did, as argued *supra*. Because Howard's claims were denied by the district court as procedurally barred, they were not addressed on their merits below and will not be addressed on their merits in the instant brief. If this Court finds that a particular claim is not procedurally barred due to a showing of good cause and prejudice, the appropriate remedy is to remand to allow the district court to address the merits of the claims.

A. Actual Innocence

Howard argues that he is actually innocent of the death penalty in light of the "new" mitigation evidence set forth in his Petition and based on his claim that the aggravators relied upon to sentence him to death were invalid. This is not a separate substantive claim, but rather an allegation made to show good cause and prejudice for overcoming the procedural bars applicable to this claim. This claim is addressed in Section III, *infra*.

C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Howard alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for conducting an inadequate investigation for the penalty phase of his trial. According to Howard, had trial counsel conducted a mitigation investigation, the jury would not have sentenced him to the death penalty.

This claim was raised in the First State Petition for post-conviction relief and denied, the denial of which was upheld on appeal. This Court made the following findings in relation to this claim in Howard's First Petition:

First, there is evidence that Howard did not want mitigating evidence presented to the jury. Second, the court found that Howard frustrated his attorneys' attempts to present mitigating evidence.

Howard v. State, 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990). This claim was also raised in the Third State Post-Conviction Petition, found procedurally barred and that finding was upheld on appeal. VIII-IX AA 1993-2002. The claim is therefore governed by the law of the case doctrine,

new arguments are waived under NRS 34.810 (1)(b), and it is successive and abusive under NRS 34.810(2). To the extent this is a claim based on new information, it could have been presented through due diligence in the previous proceedings. The claim is therefore waived under NRS 34.810(1)(b), successive and abusive under NRS 34.810(2), time-barred by NRS 34.726 and barred by laches under NRS 34.800. Accordingly, the district court properly dismissed this claim because to rule otherwise would run counter to the legislative intent of Nevada's post-conviction statutes which are designed to encourage an appellant to bring all his or her claims once and to bring them early on in the proceedings. Appellant has demonstrated no reason why he could not have raised the instant challenge to his counsel in his first petition.

C. Jury Instructions on Premeditation and Deliberation.

Defendant alleges that the first-degree murder instruction (the "Kazalyn" instructions) improperly blurred the distinction between first and second degree murder. Howard again incorrectly frames this claim in order to argue its merits; however, the correct analysis is whether the district court properly dismissed this claim as procedurally barred. This claim was previously raised in Howard's Third State Petition, was found to be procedurally barred, and that finding was upheld on appeal. VIII-IX AA 1993-2002. Therefore, the district court properly dismissed this claim in Howard's fourth petition as waived under NRS 34.810 (1)(b), successive and abusive under NRS 34.810(2), time-barred by NRS 34.726 and barred by laches under NRS 34.800.

Howard argues that he overcame the procedural bars by claiming as good cause the retroactive application of the ruling in Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000). The Court in Byford set forth a new jury instruction in first degree murder cases, requiring that the jury be specifically instructed regarding premeditation and deliberation. In Garner v. State, 116 Nev. 770, 789, 6 P.3d 1013, 1025 (2000) and again in Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 75, 17 P.3d 397, 411 (2001), the court held that Byford only applied prospectively. Contrary to the Nevada Supreme Court's holding in Garner and Leonard, the Ninth Circuit in Polk v. Sandoval, 503 F.3d 903, 911 (9th Cir. 2007) held that Byford applied retroactively. Howard relies on the ruling in Polk to support his argument that Byford must be applied retroactively to his case. However, Howard's reliance on Polk is misplaced. Even assuming Polk were controlling, the basis for the Ninth Circuit's ruling, as

stated in <u>Polk</u>, was that a defendant is deprived of due process if a jury instruction relieves the State of the burden of proof as to the defendant's state of mind. <u>See Sandstrom v. Montana</u>, 442 U.S. 510, 521 99 S.Ct. 2450 (1979); <u>Francis v. Franklin</u>, 471, U.S. 307, 326, 105 S.Ct. 1965 (1985), <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068 (1970) (cases relied upon in <u>Polk</u> to justify the Ninth Circuit's jurisdiction in the matter). As such, the underlying argument and authority relied upon in <u>Polk</u> has always been available to the defense and, therefore, does not the provide Howard with any new claim.

Further, the Nevada Supreme Court rejected the holding of <u>Polk</u> as a matter of state law in <u>Nika v. State</u>, 124 Nev. Adv. Op. 103, 198 P.3d 839 (2008). The <u>Nika Court held that Byford</u> is only retroactive to cases not yet final when <u>Byford</u> was decided. As the <u>Nika Court explained</u>, <u>Byford</u> does not apply retroactively because the Court did not hold that the <u>Kazalyn</u> instruction was constitutional error, but rather announced a change in Nevada law. <u>Nika</u>, 198 P.3d at 849-50. Thus, defendants whose convictions were final before the <u>Byford</u> decision issued on February 28, 2000 are not entitled to a new trial based upon an invalid jury instruction. Howard's conviction was final on February 12, 1988, upon issuance of remittitur following his direct appeal. Thus, <u>Byford</u> does not apply and his challenges to the <u>Kazalyn</u> instruction remain procedurally barred. Even if <u>Byford</u> and the new definition of murder were to apply to Howard's case, any error in the <u>Kazalyn</u> instruction would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. A defendant would not be entitled to relief for a constitutional error unless that defendant can show that "the error had a substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict." <u>Polk</u>, citing <u>Brecht v. Abrahamson</u>, 507 US 619, 637, 113 S.Ct. 1710 (1993) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); <u>see also Fry v. Pliler</u>, 127 S.Ct. 2321 (2007); <u>California v. Roy</u>, 519 US 2, 117 S.Ct. 337 (1996).

Here, even if this Court were to find that Howard was entitled to the revised premeditation and deliberation jury instruction, the district court's denial of Howard's Fourth State Petition should nevertheless be affirmed because the evidence in this case supports beyond a reasonable doubt deliberation and premeditation. In <u>Byford</u>, the Nevada Supreme Court set forth the following definition for deliberation:

Deliberation is the process of determining upon a course of action to kill as a result of thought, including weighing the reasons for and against the action and considering the consequences of the action.

A deliberate determination may be arrived at in a short period of time. But in all cases the determination must not be formed in passion, or if formed in passion, it must be carried out after there has been time for the passion to subside and deliberation to occur. A mere unconsidered and rash impulse is not deliberate, even though it includes the intent to kill.

116 Nev. at 236, 994 P.2d at 714.

Howard lured the victim, Dr. Monahan, into a meeting under the auspices of buying the Monahan van. He used the items he stole from Security Officer Kinsey to pose as a security official from Caesar's Palace. He robbed Dr. Monahan and then killed him with one bullet to the head, execution style. These facts clearly establish this was a deliberate, premeditated act committed during a robbery. Thus, the district court properly concluded that, not only was this claim procedurally barred, but any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

HI DEFENDANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE ACTUAL INNOCENCE TO EXCUSE THE DELAY IN BRINGING THESE CLAIMS

Generally, a defendant who has procedurally defaulted on a claim may subsequently raise the claim in a habeas petition only upon a showing of good cause, prejudice, or actual innocence. Bousley v. State, 523 U.S. 614, 1611, 118 S.Ct. 1604, 1611 (1998). Courts have consistently found "actual innocence" to be a miscarriage of justice sufficient to overcome any procedural post-conviction time bar or default without analyzing good cause and prejudice. See Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 338-39, 112 S.Ct. 2514, 2518-19 (1992). In other words, actual innocence acts as a "gateway" for innocent defendants to present constitutional challenges to a court years after the procedural defaults and bars have run. See Id. at 315, at 861.

A claim of actual innocence requires both an allegation that the defendant's constitutional rights were violated and the presentation of newly discovered evidence. The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals has "rejected free-standing claims of actual innocence as a basis for habeas review stating, '[c]laims of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence have never been held to state a ground for federal habeas relief absent an independent constitutional violation occurring in the underlying state criminal proceeding." Meadows v. Delo, 99 F.3d 280, 283 (8th Cir. 1996)

(citing Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 400, 113 S. Ct. 853, 860 (1993)). Furthermore, the newly discovered evidence suggesting the defendant's innocence must be "so strong that a court cannot have confidence in the outcome of the trial." Id. at 316, at 861. Actual innocence focuses on actual not legal innocence, and therefore, a defendant who only challenges the validity of evidence presented at trial has not sufficiently claimed actual innocence to overcome the procedural bars and defaults. See Sawyer, 112 U.S. at 339, 505 S. Ct. at 2519. The United States Supreme Court has held that, "without any new evidence of innocence, even the existence of a concededly meritorious constitutional violation is not itself sufficient to establish a miscarriage of justice that would allow a habeas court to reach the merits of the barred claim." Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 316, 115 S. Ct. 851, 861 (1995). The applicable standard applied to the actual innocence analysis depends upon whether the defendant is challenging his conviction or his death ineligibility:

To avoid application of the procedural bar to claims attacking the *validity of the conviction*, a petitioner claiming actual innocence *must show that it is more likely than not* that no reasonable juror would have convicted him absent a constitutional violation. Where the petitioner has argued that the procedural default should be ignored because he is *actually ineligible for the death penalty*, he must show by *clear and convincing evidence* that, but for a constitutional error no reasonable juror would have found him death eligible. (Emphasis added).

Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 887, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001).

Once a defendant has made such a showing, he may then use the claim of actual innocence as a "gateway" to present his constitutional challenges to the court and require the court to decide them on the merits. Schlup, 513 U.S. at 315, 115 S. Ct. at 861. Howard alleges that he is actually innocent of the death penalty because the robbery and the prior violent felony aggravators relied upon to sentence him to death were invalid. Howard further alleges that the jury would not have imposed the death penalty had trial counsel presented mitigating evidence. However, Howard fails to prove "actual innocence" of the death penalty by clear and convincing evidence, and thus the district court properly determined that Howard cannot overcome the procedural bars outlined in NRS 34.726, NRS 34.800 and NRS 34.810.

A. Howard's Claim Regarding the Validity of the Robbery Aggravator is Procedurally Barred

Howard claims, based on the ruling in McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004), rehearing denied, 121 Nev. 25, 107 P.3d 1287 (2005), that the robbery aggravator is invalid

and thus he is actually innocent of the death penalty. However, this claim is procedurally barred. The assertion that felony robbery may not be used both as a theory of first degree murder and as an aggravator was raised in the Third State Petition and dismissed as procedurally barred. VIII AA 1848-51. Subsequent to the Third State Petition, the Nevada Supreme Court decided McConnell v. State, which found that felony robbery could not be used as the grounds for first degree murder and as an aggravating circumstance, overruling prior case law. However, so long as the reviewing court can be certain that the jury based its finding of first degree murder upon a theory other than felony murder, or on both felony murder and some other theory, it is harmless error. In McConnell, the defendant admitted committing willful, premeditated and deliberate murder and the error was found to be harmless. If a court cannot make this determination, then the appropriate remedy is to strike the felony aggravator and either re-weigh the remaining aggravators and mitigators or conduct a harmless error analysis.

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